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Abstract: This paper elaborates digital government transformation in Thailand based on the “Digital
Government for all” vision. It begins by explaining how digital government becomes critical element
to make the Thailand 4.0 policy successful. It then identifies key principles of digital government in
the context of Thailand. Major digital initiatives by the Royal Thai Government and the DGA for both
the business sector and ordinary citizens are identified. Design Thinking and Enterprise Architecture
(EA) are considered as the two most important digital skills for Thailand’s government officials. The
most challenging issues of digital government transformation in Thailand and elsewhere is not about
digital technology itself, but it is about the selection of appropriate digital technology, the design of
appropriate governance and the implementation of digital government transformation for the benefits
and well-being of all citizens. No one will be left behind.
Keywords: Digital Government, Cloud Computing, Biz Portal, GovSpending, CITIZENinfo, Enterprise
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1. Introduction

[3]. Therefore, one of the key strategies to create an
appropriate an environment for the development of
technology and innovation stimulation is to reform
the public sector, especially its operations, to create
a connected and open government based on the optimisation of appropriate digital technology. Simply
put, in order to become Thailand 4.0, the Royal Thai
Government must also be transformed from a traditional government into a “Digital Government” or
“Government 4.0.”
This paper argues that “digital government for all”
is the vision to which the Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization), formerly known
as the Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization), strongly upholds when implementing digital government transformation. The paper firstly
elaborates the key principles of digital government
transformation in the context of Thailand. The paper
then identifies some interesting initiatives by the
Royal Thai Government and the DGA. The last part

One of the key policy initiatives of the Thai government led by General (retired) Prayut Chan-o-cha
announced in 2014 is to embrace “Digital Economy”
as an engine to drive the country’s economic growth [1].
In 2016, the government also announced the “Thailand 4.0” policy, which focuses on the optimisation of
technology to foster innovation and produce highvalue products and services. The ultimate aim is to
uplift Thai people’s life quality, pull Thailand out of
the middle-income trap and elevate the status of
Thailand to be a high-income country based on inclusive society and sustainable development [2].
However, traditional government operations and
public administration with rigid structures, complicated standards and procedures, fixed roles assignments leading to working in silos and limited data
integration between government agencies has become
a hindrance to achieving the Thailand 4.0 policy goal
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explains how digital infrastructure will be provided
to sustain the digital transformation of the Royal
Thai Government. No one will be left behind when
the Royal Thai Government becomes fully digital.

2. Key principles of Thailand’s “Digital
Government” or “Government 4.0”
In the context of Thailand, “Digital Government”
or “Government 4.0” is composed of six main principles.
The first and most significant principle is digital
optimisation, the meaning of which is straightforward. Appropriate digital technology and processes
must be adopted and embraced at every level of government in Thailand: central, regional and local. As
Sak Segkhoonthod, the President and CEO of the
Digital Government Development Agency (Public
Organization) or the DGA, said in his interview with
OpenGovAsia in November 2017, many governments
have adopted the strategy of sharing digital resources
by setting up a central agency to provide digital
infrastructure and tools for other government agencies in order to increase efficiency in spending taxpayers’ money [4].
Apart from the Digital Government Development
Agency (Public Organization) in Thailand, which serves
as the central organisation for the digital transformation, some other distinguished examples of this
kind of organisations include the Digital Government
Development Agency (Public Organization) of Thailand, the Government Technology Agency (GovTech)
of Singapore, the Malaysian Administrative Mod-

Figure 1. Key principles of Thailand’s “Digital
Government” or “Government 4.0”
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ernisation and Management Planning Unit or MAMPU)
of Malaysia, and the Shared Services Canada of Canada.
Moreover, as Sak also noted, “leading by example
is much more effective…As the CEO of the agency
responsible for digital government transformation, it
is my duty to be a good exemplar by using digital
technologies as much as possible” [5]. Therefore, digital optimisation in this context also means that politicians and senior bureaucrat should also embrace
digital technologies in their daily work, for instance,
communicating with their team members with official email accounts.
The second key principle is citizen-centric. User or
citizen experience must be carefully analysed in order
to understand their pain points or difficulties when
using government’s digital services or interacting
with government agencies. Digital services created
and developed by government agencies in Thailand
must be accessible for everyone including the disadvantaged and people with disabilities. The minimum requirements are simplicity, security, clarity
leading to swift understanding by ordinary citizens.
When the government’s operations and services are
fully digitised, each citizen will be able to receive personalised services which meets their preferences and
conditions [6].
The third key principle is data integration between
government agencies. Unless data of government
agencies is fully integrated and exchanged digitally,
it is virtually impossible for the government to provide high-quality services based on a citizen-centric
approach. A major concern for this principle is how
to integrate some aspect of Thai citizens’ personal
data in order to provide appropriate assistance and
welfare for each individual citizen without violating
their privacy rights. The Personal Data Protection
Bill which is expected to pass the National Legislative Assembly in February 2019 is the latest attempt
by the government to overcome the concern [7].
The fourth principle of Thailand’s Government 4.0
is open government data for transparency and innovation. In principle government data is the national
not government asset. Therefore, any government
data which is not treated confidential or prohibited
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by any rules and regulations must be revealed through
digital channels in a format which can be reused and
processed by digital devices [8]. This is one of the
most efficient ways to stimulate innovation within
the Thai society as innovators or the general public
can utilise open government data as their foundation
to create innovative businesses and services.
In reality, open government data in Thailand officially begun in 1858 in the reign of King Mongkut or
commonly known as King Rama IV. He published
the first Royal Thai Government Gazette, which is
still in operation at the moment, to publicise his daily
routines, schedules and orders treated as laws [9].
The Royal Thai Government Gazette has become the
most official and reliable source of government data
and information in Thailand.
The DGA has created the open government data
portal, www.data.go.th, as the one-stop service for
the general public to search for open government
data. Most of the data are opened in .xlsx or .csv formats and easily processed by digital devices. As of 22
February 2019, there are 1,224 datasets available on
the website.
The major concern for open government data is
data quality. The DGA has been working with various government agencies across the country to ensure
that government data released to the general public
is reliable, comprehensive, accurate and up-to-date.
The DGA has also formulated the Data Governance
Framework, which identifies rights and duties of
stakeholders to the whole process of data management,
which can be applied in every government agency in
Thailand [10].
In order to demonstrate how open government data
can be optimised, the DGA retrieves and integrates
government procurement data to perform data analytics and present in easy-to-understand digital formats through the “Thailand Government Spending”
or “Where do our taxes go?” website and mobile application. The details of this initiative are elaborated in
the latter part of this paper.
Not only does open government data help foster
innovation and enhance transparency in government
operations, it also enhances people’s participation.
The fifth principle of digital government is therefore

the encouragement of citizens to participate in public
policy processes through digital means at their convenience. Opinions of each individual citizen on each
particular issue should also be revealed via digital
channels so that others can easily access [11]. The
revelation of people’s opinions through digital channels also serves as a strong foundation for the creation of a constructive learning society in Thailand
and for big data analytics on public policy issues.
The last key principle which seems to be neglected
is good governance. Good governance is incorporated
into the definition of digital government stipulated in
Section 3 of the Royal Decree on the Establishment
of the Digital Government Development Agency
(Public Organization) B.E. 2561 (2018) [12]. The concept of good governance in the context of Thailand
emphasises the government’s accountability and
respect of citizens’ privacy, rights and freedom which
are also of great significance for democratic governance in the country.
To sum up, Government 4.0 must exist in order to
support and drive the Thailand 4.0 policy. In order
to turn the Government 4.0 into reality, six key principles which are digital optimisation, a citizen-centric
approach, data integration between government agencies, open government data for transparency and innovation, people’s participation enhancement and good
governance, must be firmly upheld.

3. One-Stop Service (OSS) as the most tangible output of digital government
For ordinary citizens, the most expected tangible
output of digital government is One-Stop Service (OSS)
which enables them to access government data, information and services through a single digital channel
with minimal limitations.
One-Stop Service for citizens and the business sector have been designed developed to meet demands
of each group of stakeholders. The first phase of the
One-Stop Service for citizens is the development of
the CITIZENinfo Mobile Application launched in
January 2019 with information on the location of government agencies, government services and required
documents to obtain the services.
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For the business sector, the DGA has been working closely with the Office of the Public Sector Development Commission (OPDC) and other related agencies
to develop the Biz Portal website with comprehensive information on doing business in Thailand from
start to finish. The website also provides numerous
digital services for entrepreneurs as they can register,
apply for utilities and various licences.
The rationale, significance and notable key features of the CITIZENinfo mobile application and the
Biz Portal website are explained in the latter parts
of this paper.

4. CITIZENinfo Mobile Application: OSS
for citizens
To understand the significance of this mobile application, it is first and foremost necessary to understand Thailand’s citizen registration system.
First of all, every Thai citizen is given a unique
thirteen-digit number when they were born. Currently, every government agency in Thailand uses the
same thirteen-digit number to collect serve the citizens. Our citizen ID cards are all smart cards which
means citizens’ basic information is stored and can
be processed by digital devices such as smart card
readers However, many government agencies have
required citizens to have their ID cards and house
registration books photocopied when contact or request
services from the government. This has always been
a burden for Thai citizens.
The Prayut government has realised this problem,
and therefore announced the “No Copy” policy pro-

Figure 2. CITIZENinfo Application
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Figure 3. CITIZENinfo User Interface (UI)

hibiting government officials from requesting official
document copies from citizens in April 2017 [13].
The CITIZENinfo mobile application becomes a tool
for both government and citizens to track the progress of the “No Copy” policy by providing the information on government services which do not request
copies of official documents from citizens anymore.
Moreover, government agencies’ digital location is
also shown on the application which enables citizens
to find them more easily and accurately. The location
is linked with Google Maps or Apple Maps, which
can then navigate citizens to each government agency.
After citizens are serviced by the government, they
can also rate their satisfaction and provide their
feedback and comments for improving the services in
the future. In the future, Thai citizens will be able
to carry out more transactions for more government
services on this application.

5. Doing Business Portal: One-Stop Service
(OSS) for the business sector
Digital government also helps facilitate doing business in Thailand, which is a key to the country’s economic growth. According to the Ease of Doing Business
Index by the World Bank, ten indicators have been
used to measure the environment for businesses in
each economy. The ten indicators are: (1) starting a
business; (2) dealing with construction permits; (3)
getting electricity; (4) registering property; (5) getting
credit; (6) protecting minority investors; (7) trading
across borders; (8) paying taxes; (9) enforcing contracts;
and (10) resolving insolvency [14]. In 2016, Thailand
ranked 49th out of 189 economies with the score of
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Figure 4. Biz Portal Transaction

Figure 5. Biz Portal Smart Quiz

71.42 [15]. Thailand’s position substantially improved
in the 2019 Ease of Doing Business Index. Its rank
moved to 27th out of 190 economies with the score
of 78.45 [16]. With particular regard to the “starting
a business” indicator, Thailand’s score rose from
85.07 in 2016 to 92.72 in 2019 [17].
One of the major contributing factors to the better
score and improved ranking is the integration of data
and digitisation of services related doing business in
Thailand from start to finish. Moreover, the DGA
has also been working collaboratively with many
government agencies which deal with business official
licences to develop the “Biz Portal” website, which
can be accessed at https://biz.govchannel.go.th.
Entrepreneurs can search for comprehensive business information from the website. For transactions
and applying for business licences, as of 22 February
2019, entrepreneurs can choose from each of the following 12 categories namely: (1) starting a new business; (2) requesting utilities including water, electricity,
telephone and internet from state enterprises; (3) open
a restaurant; (4) open a retail store; (5) open a small
resort/hotel; (6) open a spa shop; (7) open a veterinary
sanatorium; (8) open a coffee shop or co-working space;
(9) open a construction business; (10) open an electronic
store; (11) open a fitness center; and (12) open a car
care center.
After authentication, entrepreneurs can also register themselves as employers and employees for social
security levies and benefits. In order to request utilities, entrepreneurs can fill in a single online form on
which duplicates had already been removed.
The most outstanding feature of the Biz Portal

website is Smart Quiz. In case entrepreneurs are not
certain about the licences they are required to apply
for, they can choose to answer some questions on the
Smart Quiz. The website then processes the answers
and find all of the required licences for them.
Take “open a restaurant” category as an example.
At the moment there are seven questions which entrepreneurs need to answer on the Smart Quiz form
[18]. Some notable questions include “Will your restaurant sell alcohol such as beer, wine and liquor?” and
“Will your restaurant sell tobacco products such as
cigarettes, cigars and raw tobaccos?” [19]. Different
answers lead to different required licences entrepreneurs need to apply for. In case liquor and tobacco
products are to be sold at any restaurants, the restaurant owners need to apply for liquor and tobacco products licences from the Excise Department, the Ministry
of Finance.
It should also be noted that some government
agencies are still in the process of connect their services to the Biz Portal website. Entrepreneurs may
still need to go to the government agencies offices to
lodge their paperwork. However, while the DGA is
still working on system integration, the Biz Portal
website provides the necessary information on the
application processes.
The Biz Portal website serves as the one-stop service for the business sector. Entrepreneurs can find
all information and apply for many licences digitally.
The DGA continues to work with other government
agencies at every level to expand digital services on
the Biz Portal website to facilitate doing business in
Thailand.
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6. Government Data Exchange Center
(GDX)
Unless data between different government agencies is integrated and exchanged securely and swiftly,
the one-stop services for both citizens and the business sector as elaborated will not be successful. For
the domain of population data, the Department of
Provincial Administration under the portfolio of the
Ministry of Interior has been assigned by the Cabinet to set up the Population Linkage Center. As of
25 January 2019, 116 official documents collecting
citizens’ data from various agencies such as the Ministry of Inferior, Ministry of Defence, Ministry of Social
Development and Human Security and Ministry
Public Health, can be exchanged through the Linkage Center [20].
However, in reality government data is more complicated than only citizens’ data. The government
requires high-quality data from different domains
such as international trade, natural resources and
disaster, business, judicial system, for public administration and provide high-quality services for citizens. How data from different domains can be integrated
and exchanged securely and promptly through digital channels is still a conundrum. The DGA is
therefore committed to the creation of the Government Data Exchange Center (GDX), which facilitates data exchange between different domains. The
GDX will also keep log files for future scrutiny and
reference. In this regard, blockchain technology will
also be adopted to enhance the system’s security and
durability.

7. Thailand Government Spending: A digital initiative for people empowerment
Another initiative of the DGA is the Thailand
Government Spending initiative. It can be accessed
at https://govspending.data.go.th.
It is the first time in Thailand’s history that reliable data from different government agencies responsible for government revenue collection, budget allocation,
and procurement can be integrated and analysed [21].
Data analytics is then performed and presented in
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Figure 6. Thailand Government Spending: Revenue
Collection

Figure 7. Thailand Government Spending Dashboard

easy-to-understand digital formats including dashboards, maps and infographics. Citizens can also
access the details of government procurement projects in each province by clicking on the map.
The significant details of each procurement project
presented on the website include the responsible agency,
the project title, the project number, the reference
price, the budget allocated for the project, the agreed
price, the procurement method, the details of the
contractor, the date on which the contract is signed
and terminated and the project status. Government
operations, especially procurement will be more transparent and more accountable to taxpayers.
The Thailand Government Spending initiative is also
available as a mobile application which can be downloaded from both iOS and Android. An additional feature with GPS enables users to find information on
government procurement projects of government agencies located around their location.
Moreover, both the Thailand Government Spending website and mobile application enable citizens to
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Figure 8. Thailand Government Spending Mobile
Application

provide feedback and lodge complaints on corruption
or delays in any projects. The feedback and complaints are directly sent to the Office of the Permanent-Secretary, Office of the Prime Minister and the
Office of Public Sector Anti-Corruption Commission
for further investigation.
The Thailand Government Spending initiative therefore revolutionises how the Royal Thai Government
reveals information on revenue, budgeting and spending to the general public. Instead of waiting passively
for citizens to request the information, the government
integrates reliable data from all government sources
and present it in digital and easy-to-understand formats.
As Thosaphon Chieocharnpraphan summarised,
“The initiative becomes the digital innovation which
enables ordinary citizens of all socio-economic statuses
to access and understand the information with minimal limitations and therefore empowers them to scrutinise how the Thai government spends their taxes for
their benefits” [22]. With this initiative in place, ordinary people can perform their citizenship duties with
only their fingertips.

8. Design Thinking and Enterprise Architecture as part of digital training courses
for government personnel
The DGA initiatives elaborated in the previous

sections of this paper will not be sustainable unless
government personnel are equipped with appropriate digital skills. The DGA establishes the Thailand
Digital Government Academy or TDGA to fulfill this
function.
TDGA considers “Design Thinking” as one of the
most important digital skills for successful digital
government transformation in Thailand. Unless government officials are equipped with a set of skills to
understand, analyse and empathise with users’ needs,
experiences, journeys and pain points, they are not
able to design or develop appropriate digital solutions
for serving Thai citizens on a citizen-centric approach.
However, design thinking alone is not sufficient to
design or develop digital solutions as it only contributes to the initial design or paper prototype of the
solutions. To complete digital solutions, the back-end
system is also of great significance. Enterprise Architecture or EA complements Design Thinking as it
helps analyse and design appropriate back-end systems which aligns with the business processes. Simply put, EA serves as a blueprint which combines frontend and back-end together.
The DGA has formulated its own EA framework
based on the Zachman Framework for Enterprise
Architecture, The Open Group Architecture Framework (TOGAF) and the Federal Enterprise Architecture (FEA) [23]. The DGA’s enterprise architecture
consists of five models or aspects: (1) business including business rules and processes; (2) application; (3)
data; (4) infrastructure; and (5) infrastructure including governance, risk management and compliance [24].
In the future, both design thinking and enterprise
architecture should be applied to government digital
solutions and services at the national level which
involved various government agencies. For example,
the entire legislative process of Thailand should be
redesigned to enable ordinary citizens to track the
progress of each piece of legislation from start to finish more easily and more conveniently.
Both design thinking and enterprise architecture
are incorporated into the TDGA digital training courses
for government officials in Thailand in order to equip
government officials with two of the most essential
digital skills for digital transformation.
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9. Digital Infrastructure for digital government transformation
In order to sustain digital government transformation in Thailand, digital infrastructure must be
sufficient, secure and reliable. Network, Cloud Computing and Data Center are identified as critical digital infrastructure for Thailand.
The DGA has been providing Cloud Computing
service or Government Cloud (G-Cloud) for government agencies in Thailand since Fiscal Year 2012
[25]. In Fiscal Year 2018, there are 881 government
systems running on G-Cloud provided by the DGA.
The calculated net benefits for the government are
939,727,206 Baht [26].
In order to enhance the efficiency of government
investment in digital infrastructure, the DGA plans
to embrace some open source software for cloud computing. In the near future, some government systems
which are not very critical will be transferred to the
open source software. The DGA is also studying the
new business model of digital infrastructure procurement. Treating digital infrastructure as utilities
like water and electricity will help reduce the burden
of government agencies in the procurement processes. The DGA is also trying to customise cloud
computing based on each government agency’s
demands. Self-service, which government agencies
can request more resources and monitor their utilisation by themselves, is also our direction in the
near future.

10. e-Payment and Digital ID: two more puzzles to finish the jigsaw
There are two other puzzles which make digital
government transformation in Thailand complete.
The first one is the National E-Payment Project with
five schemes. The first scheme is Prompt Pay, which
enables people to transfer money between banks with
their ID or mobile phone numbers free of charge. Other
schemes include debit card usage expansion e-tax,
social welfare and government e-payment, and electronic transactions promotion [27].
The other puzzle is Digital ID. The legislation passed
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the National Legislative Assembly on 13 February
2019 [28]. The legislation is currently waiting on
Royal Assent before coming into force.

11. Conclusion
Digital Government or Government 4.0 is a critical
element of the Thailand 4.0 policy. The Royal Thai
Government and the DGA launched some major digital initiatives to serve both the business sector and
ordinary citizens. Much still needs to be done and
implemented in the future though.
However, digital government transformation as
elaborated in this paper will be meaningless if it is
not used as a tool to elevate the life quality of our
people of all socio-economic statuses. Digital government transformation must leave no one behind. The
most challenging issue of the digital era is not about
digital technology itself, but it is about how to choose
the most appropriate technology, design appropriate
governance and implement digital transformation
for the benefits and well-being of ordinary citizens.

References
[1] The Secretariat of the Cabinet, The Royal Thai Government. “National Legislative Assembly Votes and
Proceedings.” The Royal Thai Government Gazette
131, 115 D (30 October 2014): 236. Accessed 20 February 2019. http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/
PDF/2557/D/115/222.PDF
.[2] Languepin, O. “Thailand 4.0, What Do You Need to
Know?” Thailand Business News. 15 September, 2016.
Accessed 20 February 2019, https://www.thailand-business-news.com/economics/54286-thailand-4-0-need-know.
html
. [3] Office of the National Economic and Social Development Board, Office of the Prime Minister of Thailand.
The Twelfth National Economic and Social Development Plan (2017-2021). Bangkok: Office of the National
Economic and Social Development Board, 2017: 73-74.
Accessed 21 February 2019. https://www.nesdb.go.th/
nesdb_en/ewt_w3c/ewt_dl_link.php?nid=4345
. [4] Koh, D. “Exclusive – Origins, Strategies and Developments of the Electronic Government Agency (Ega),
Thailand (Part I).” OpenGov Asia. 21 November, 2017.
Accessed 21 February 2019, https://www.opengovasia.com/exclusive-origins-strategies-and-develop-

Digital Government Development and Cloud Computing Policy in Thailand: Moving Forward Together

[5]
[6]

[7]

[8]

[9]
[10]

[11]

[12]

[13]

[14]

[15]

ments-of-the-electronic-government-agency-egathailandpart-i/.
Ibid.
Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization).
Thailand’s 3-Year Digital Government Master Plan.
Bangkok: Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization), 2016: 19.
Thailand, National Legislative Assembly. Report of the
Ad-Hoc Committee on the Consideration of the Personal Data Protection Bill B.E. .... Bangkok: Secretariat of the Senate, 2019. Accessed 21 February 2019.
http://library.senate.go.th/document/mSubject/Ext84/
84774_0001.PDF
Phaktanakul, T. and T. Chieocharnpraphan. “Open
Government Data to Open Government: Innovation in
Thailand’s Public Administration in the Digital Era.”
In Documents for the 18th King Prajadhipok’s Institute
Annual Conference Group Two Workshop on Open
Government, edited by King Prajadhipok’s Institute.
Bangkok: King Prajadhipok’s Institute, 2016: 114.
Ibid.
Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization). Data Governance Framework. Bangkok: Digital
Government Development Agency (Public Organization),
2018. Accessed 26 February 2019. https://www.dga.or.th/
upload/download/file_c53fa657a1ff80e5e54b5f8b762fa2e3. pdf.
Phaktanakul, T. and T. Chieocharnpraphan. “Open
Government Data to Open Government: Innovation in
Thailand’s Public Administration in the Digital Era.”:
114.
The Secretariat of the Cabinet, The Royal Thai Government. “The Royal Decree on the Establishment of
the Digital Government Development Agency (Public
Organization) B.E. 2561 (2018).” The Royal Thai Government Gazette 135, no. 33 A (13 May): 81. Accessed
22 February 2019. http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/
DATA/PDF/2561/A/033/80.PDF.
The Secretariat of the Cabinet, The Royal Thai Government. “The Order of the National Council for Peace
and Order Chief Number 21/2017.” The Royal Thai
Government Gazette 134, Special 97 D (4 April 2017):
53. Accessed 22 February 2019. http://www.ratchakitcha.soc.go.th/DATA/PDF/2560/E/097/49.PDF.
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Doing Business 2019: Training
for Reform. 16th ed. Washington DC The World Bank
2019: 2. Accessed 22 February 2019. http://www.worldbank.org/content/dam/doingBusiness/media/AnnualReports/English/DB2019-report_web-version.pdf
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Doing Business 2016: Measur-

[16]

[17]

[18]

[19]
[20]

[21]

[22]
[23]

[24]
[25]

[26]

ing Regulatory Quality and Efficiency. 13th ed. Washington
DC: The World Bank, 2016: 5. Accessed 22 February
2019. http://www.doingbusiness.org/content/dam/doingBusiness /media/Annual-Reports/English/DB16-FullReport.pdf.
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Doing Business 2019: Training
for Reform. 16th ed.: 5.
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Doing Business 2016: Measuring Regulatory Quality and Efficiency. 13th ed: 239;
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank. Doing Business 2019: Training
for Reform. 16th ed.: 208.
Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization). “Recommended Licences for You.” Last modified 2019, 2019. Accessed 22 February, 2019. https://
biz.govchannel.go.th/th/Quiz/Business/Restaurant.
Ibid.
Department of Provincial Administration, Ministry of
Interior of Thailand “Population Information Linkage
Center.” Last modified 25 January, 2019. Accessed 22
February, 2019. https://linkagemgmt.bora.dopa.go.th/
#/.
Chieocharnpraphan, T. “Exclusive – Thailand Government Spending (Govspending) Initiative: A Digital Innovation for a Transparent Government and Citizen
Empowerment.” OpenGov Asia. 21 December, 2017.
Accessed 23 December 2017, https://www.opengovasia.com/exclusive-thailand-government-spending-govspending-initiative-a-digital-innovation-for-a-transparentgovernment-and-citizen-empowerment/.
Ibid.
Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization).
EGA Enterprise Architecture. Bangkok: Electronic
Government Agency (Public Organization), 2015: 1418. Accessed 15 December 2017. https://www.dga.
or.th/upload/download/file_4bd4ed97187349d235ecd5178
e0e41c8.pdf.
Ibid: 19.
Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization).
Open and connected government: EGA Annual Report
2017. Bangkok: Electronic Government Agency (Public Organization),2017: 30-31. Accessed 21 January
2019. https://www.dga.or.th/upload/download/file_d5403
777235d3ada7e09c24d385be2ca.pdf.
Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization). Benefits estimation of digital government operations of the Digital Government Development Agency
(Public Organization) Report. Bangkok: Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization),
2018: 85.

Journal of Information Technology and Architecture 119

Airada Luangvilai

[27] Ministry of Finance, The Royal Thai Government.
“National E-Payment.” 2016. Accessed 23 February,
2019. http://www.epayment.go.th/home/app/.
[28] The Secretariat of the Senate of Thailand. Letter to the
Secretary-General of the Cabinet Confirming theReso-

lution of the National Legislative Assembly Dated 20
February 2019, No. 007/00884 by The Secretariat of
the Senate of Thailand.

Airada Luangvilai
Senior Executive Vice President
Digital Government Development Agency (Public Organization)

120 Journal of Information Technology and Architecture

